IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

EDWARD J. ZAKRZEWSKI,	
Appellant,	
VS.	Case No. SC 02-1734
STATE OF FLORIDA,	
Appellee.	
	/

ON DIRECT APPEAL FROM A FINAL ORDER OF THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR OKALOOSA COUNTY, FLORIDA, DENYING APPELLANT'S FLORIDA RULE OF CRIMINAL PROCEDURE 3.850 MOTION FOR POST CONVICTION RELIEF IN A CAPITAL CASE.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Baya Harrison, III Counsel for Appellant Post Office Drawer 1219 Monticello, FL 32345-1219

Tel: (850) 997-8469

(850) 997-8468

Fla. Bar No. 099568

FX:

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Edward J. Zakrzewski, the appellant, was the defendant below. He will be referred to as "Zakrzewski" or the "defendant." The State of Florida, appellee, will be referred to as "the state." The record on appeal is in four volumes. References to the record on appeal will be by letter "R" followed by a page number located in the lower right hand corner of each page.

A. Nature of the Case:

This is a direct appeal to the Supreme Court of Florida of the June 17, 2002 final order (R. 576-584) of the lower tribunal, the Circuit Court of the First Judicial Circuit, in and for Okaloosa County, Florida, in Case No. 94-1283-CFA, denying Edward J. Zakrzewski's complete amended motion to vacate his guilty pleas, judgments and death sentences (R. 192-251) filed per the provisions of Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.850 and 3.851. The Court denying the post conviction motion is the Hon. G. Robert Barron, Circuit Judge.

B. Course of Proceedings:

On November 19, 1994, the defendant was indicted by an Okaloosa County, Florida grand jury and charged with the following crimes:

- 1. Count I first degree premeditated murder of Sylvia Zakrzewski, his wife.
- 2. Count II first degree premeditated murder of Edward K. Zakrzewski, his son.
- 3. Count III first degree premeditated murder of Anna Zakrzewski, his daughter.

(R. 193)

The offenses occurred on or about June 10, 1994, in Mary Esther, Florida. Assistant Public Defenders Isaac Bruce Koran and Elton W. Killam, of the Office of the Public Defender, First Judicial Circuit of Florida, represented the defendant at trial. (R. 193-94) On March 15, 1996, the defendant signed a written agreement in which he pled guilty as charged to all three counts in the indictment. (R. 310) On March 19, 1996, the plea agreement was filed with the Clerk of Circuit Court. Id. At a March 25, 1996 hearing, Judge Barron accepted the defendant's guilty pleas. Id.

On March 26, 1996, a jury was seated and a penalty phase capital proceeding per the provisions of Section 921.141, Florida Statutes (1992), commenced with Judge Barron presiding. (R. 193-94, 310) On March 30, 1996,

the jury returned the following advisory sentencing recommendations (R. 310):

- 1. As to Counts I (Sylvia) and II (Edward), death by a vote of 7-5. <u>Id</u>.
- 2. As to Count III (Anna), life in prison (by a 6-6 vote). <u>Id</u>.

On April 19, 1996, the Trial Court, in a written Order (R. 310-320), adopted the jurors' non-unanimous (a vote of 7-5) recommendations regarding Counts I and II, and imposed death sentences as to both counts. (R. 316, 318) As to Count III, the Trial Court declined to follow the jurors' advisory (a 6-6 split vote) sentence and recommendation of life, overrode it and imposed a death sentence as to this count as well. (R. 320) In justifying each of the death sentences, Judge Barron found that the state had proven the following statutory aggravating circumstances beyond a reasonable doubt:

- 1. As to Count III, the defendant now had prior convictions; that is, for the two other murders in this same case. Sec. 921.141(5)(b), Fla. Stat. (1992).
- 2. The homicides were especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel Sec. 921.141(5)(h), Fla. Stat. (1992).
- 3. The crimes were committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification. Sec. 921.141(5)(i), Fla. Stat. (1992).

(R. 310-11, 316-19)

As statutory mitigating factors, the Trial Court found:

- 1. The defendant had no significant prior criminal history. Sec. 921.141(6)(a), Fla. Stat. (1992).
- 2. The murders were committed while the defendant was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance. Sec. 921.141(6)(b), Fla. Stat. (1992).

(R. 312-13, 317-20).

The Trial Court also found as non-statutory mitigating factors:

- 1. The defendant turned himself in and pled guilty.
- 2. The defendant was an exceptionally hard worker, a good student and an exemplary member of the United States Air Force.
- 3. The defendant had been a loving husband and father, and was truly remorseful for what he had done.
- 4. The defendant had been under great stress due to work, college, childcare and lack of sleep.
 - 5. The defendant was a humble man.
 - 6. The defendant was raised without his natural father.
- 7. The defendant had little religious training, but had embraced the Christian faith since the offense.
- 8. The defendant had a long-term emotional disorder and at the time of the crimes was suffering from a major depressive episode.

9. The defendant had again exhibited good behavior subsequent to the crimes.

(R. 313-16, 318-20)

On direct appeal, this Court affirmed the Trial Court's death sentences. Zakrzewski v. State, 717 So. 2d 488 (Fla. 1988). Justice Anstead, joined by two other members of the Court, dissented as to the death sentence imposed in Count III because the Court majority had not

honored <u>Tedder v. State</u>, 322 So. 2d 908, 910 (Fla. 1975), and our consistent case law in holding that, despite the unusual and unique circumstances involved herein, and the extensive amount of statutory and non-statutory mitigation established, no reasonable jury could vote for mercy, as the jury did here, and spare appellant's life for the killing of the child Anna, while voting for death in the killing of Edward.

Zakrzewski, 717 So. 2d at 496.

Zakrzewski filed a timely motion for rehearing which the Trial Court denied on September 9, 1998. He then filed a timely petition for writ of certiorari on December 3, 1998 in the Supreme Court of the United States. The petition was denied on January 25, 1999. Zakrzewski v. Florida, 525 U.S. 1126 (1999).

On January 24, 2000, the defendant filed a "shell" motion (R. 3-6) to vacate his guilty pleas, judgments and death sentences per the provisions of Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.850 and 3.851 with an appendix (R. 30-191). The motion was prepared by Reed Ammon, Esq., who had been appointed to represent the

defendant per Sections 27.710 and 27.711, Florida Statutes (1998 as amended), known as Florida's "registry" statute. Id. On February 28, 2001, by order of the Trial Court, Ammon was permitted to withdraw as registry counsel and undersigned counsel, Baya Harrison, Esq., was appointed in his stead. On June 28, 2001, the undersigned filed Zakrzewski's complete 3.850 motion for post conviction relief. (R. 192-251) On July 30, 2001, the Trial Court issued an Order to Show Cause. (R. 252). On November 27, 2001, the state filed a response. (R. 253-90) A <u>Huff</u> hearing followed. (R. 300-02) On April 22, 2002, with the permission of the Trial Court, the defendant filed an amendment to the complete 3.850 motion raising an Apprendi/Ring claim. (R. 312-21) On May 6, 2002, the state filed a response to the Apprendi/Ring claim. (R. 322-333) On May 23, 2002, an evidentiary hearing was held before the Trial Court in Shalimar, Florida. (R. 334-35, 576)

C. Disposition in the Lower Tribunal:

On June 17, 2002, Judge Barron rendered a Final Order denying the 3.850 motion to vacate appellant's judgments and death sentences with regard to all claims. (R. 576-84) In so doing, the Trial Court determined that the Apprendi/Ring claim was procedurally barred. Id. On July 1, 2002, Zakrzewski filed a notice of appeal with the Clerk of the Circuit Court for Okaloosa County, Florida, to this honorable Court. (R. 590-91) On July 5, 2002, the defendant filed

an amended notice of appeal. (R. 593-94)

D. Statement of the Facts:

1.Some Of The Evidence Introduced During The Original Trial

On June 13, 1994, Zakrzewski's Air Force supervisor, Senior Master Sergeant Harold Mason, was advised that Zakrzewski did not come in to his work assignment that morning at Eglin Air Force Base. (R. 366) The sergeant was surprised since the defendant was always dependable and punctual. Concerned about the defendant's welfare, Sgt. Mason (now an Okaloosa County Deputy Sheriff) went to Zakrzewski's residence in Mary Ester, knocked at the front door and found it was locked. He observed a broken bedroom window and noticed that some window screens had been removed. (R. 367) No one came to the door. Worried that something might be amiss and concerned for the well being of the defendant and his family, Mason called the Sheriff's Office. (R. 366)

Okaloosa County Deputy Sheriff Robert A. Baczek was dispatched to the residence. When he arrived, Deputy Baczek was advised by Sergeant Mason of his concerns as referenced above. (R. 366)

Deputy Baczek walked around the perimeter of the residence and eventually removed a window screen in order to gain entry. At that time, he identified himself to anyone who might be in the house and announced that he was going to enter the house. (R. 367, 369)

At no time did Deputy Baczek obtain or initiate the procedure for obtaining a search warrant before entering the residence. (R. 369) Nor did he try to locate Zakrzewski to gain his permission for a search. (R. 377) Furthermore, he had no probable cause to believe that a criminal offense had been or was about to be committed at the residence and indeed stated so later in his deposition. (R. 365-81) After he entered the residence, Deputy Baczek found blood, a machete, and the dead bodies of Sylvia, Edward and Anna. (R. 372, 377)

It was only after Deputy Baczek's forced entry into the residence that law enforcement knew that crimes had been committed therein and formed the opinion that the defendant was implicated. (R. 199) Law enforcement authorities then attempted to locate the defendant to no avail since, as it was discovered later, he had fled to Hawaii. (R. 199)

Later that same day (June 13, 1994), after the initial entry and search described above, the Sheriff's Office sought and obtained a search warrant regarding the residence from the Okaloosa County Circuit Judge Ben Gordon. The items of evidence seized from the residence are listed on the inventory attached to said search warrant.

On or about October 14, 1994, the case was televised on "Unsolved Mysteries." (R. 199) After the broadcast, on or about October 15, 1994, the defendant turned himself in to the authorities in Hawaii. (R. 199) Okaloosa

County Deputy Sheriff Joe Nelson then flew to Hawaii to interview the defendant, arrest him and return him to Florida. (R. 199)

Deputy Nelson interviewed Officer Alan Brown of the Molokai Police Department. Officer Brown was present at the jail when the family Zakrzewski had been living with visited the defendant. Officer Brown told Deputy Nelson that he overheard Zakrzewski apologize to the family for having given them a false name, and tell them that his time on this earth was short and that he had to return to Florida to reap what he had sown. (R. 199)

These incriminating statements, as well as virtually all of the other evidence seized in this case, were the results of the initial warrantless search of Zakrzewski's residence.

On or about October 15, 1994, while in police custody, the defendant signed a document entitled, "Notification of Exercise of Rights." That document advised the authorities that he did not and would not consent to the search of his residence, automobile, person or property. (R. 200) Immediately upon his return to Okaloosa County, Zakrzewski executed virtually an identical document. These documents demonstrate Zakrzewski's intent, at the very first opportunity after his arrest, to exercise his rights under Article 1, Section 12 of the Florida Constitution, and the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, to be secure in his person, house, papers and effects, against unreasonable searches and

seizures.

In his closing argument to the jury, the prosecutor repeatedly belittled Zakrzewski regarding is conversion to Christianity and painted him instead as an anti-Christian zealot committed to the teaching of the German philosopher Frederick Nietzsche. (R. 238-47) The details of the prosecutor's comments are described in the argument section of this brief. Defense counsel did not object to hardly any of the prosecutor's prejudicial remarks in this regard.

2.Testimony Presented During The 3.850 Evidentiary Hearing

Zakrzewski was the first witness. He testified in support of his post conviction claim¹ that his guilty pleas were involuntary in the context of the introduction of the photographs of the slain victims. He stated that "(m)y desire was – when I made the decision to submit a guilty plea was to suppress the pictures and keep them from being flung around like some kind of side show." (R. 411) Zakrzewski said his attorneys promised him that if he pled guilty, they would keep the photographs of the slain victims from being shown to the jury during the penalty phase. (R. 395) He stated that the issue was so important to him that if he had known that the photographs were going to be introduced in evidence, he would not have pled guilty. (R. 396) However the photographs were introduced in evidence and were "waved around like a circus." (R. 397) Zakrzewski testified that he was not cognizant of any ruling the Trial Court had made regarding whether the photographs would be admitted, but had to rely upon what his attorneys told him. (R. 397) Mr. Elmore² asked him repeatedly on cross

Claim II in the complete 3.850 motion (R. 238-47), Issue III here on appeal.

Assistant State Attorney Robert Elmore, the lead prosecuting attorney in the trial.

examination if he did not recall the hearing at which Mr. Killam moved to exclude the photographs, and Judge Barron said he would make that ruling at the hearing when the photographs were actually offered into evidence. (R. 414-16) Specifically, Elmore asked why Zakrzewski didn't discuss the judge's decision with his attorneys and back out of his plea at this time:

- Q. So your testimony is even though you knew that, even though you knew the judge refused to throw them out at that time you were going to rely on the promise from your attorneys that they'd win that later?
- A. I didn't fully understand at that time, I don't recall fully feeling like it was over. I thought for sure that the judge would rule in my favor. That's the way I was led to believe. (R. 416)

Asked by Judge Barron to clarify whether his attorneys had told him that they would suppress those photographs in exchange for him pleading guilty, or if they told him they would file a motion to suppress, Zakrzewski testified that he was led to believe that, one way or another, the photographs would be suppressed:

At that time, sir, I had no idea about the law – if they told me they were going to do it, all I could do is believe it. It's all I had. (R. 419)

Lead defense counsel, Mr. Koran, testified in this regard:

... but to say that we communicated to Mr. Zakrzewski or intimated or in any other way said anything that I felt could have given him the impression that the photographs would never come in, I can tell you categorically that's not correct. (R. 433)

Koran acknowledged that Zakrzewski felt very strongly about the issue:

... he just hated to see photographs of his children published in such a way or promulgated in such a way that people would see them and we agreed that it would be in everybody's best interest maybe not for the same reason that he felt, but I certainly felt it would be in his best interest that those photographs not be promulgated and so we indicated we would do everything we could to try to keep that from

happening, but we never told him that it wouldn't happen . . . (R. 433)

Koran acknowledged that the jury vote for the death penalty was very close; 7-5 for death regarding Counts I and II, and 6-6 regarding Count III. (R. 434) He concurred that under those circumstances the photographs acted as a very powerful prejudicial tool for the state. (R. 434) Koran was then asked by the judge:

- Q. Did you ever entice him or do you recall any conversations with Mr. Zakrzewski in which you tried to entice him to plead guilty in exchange for telling him anything about the photographs?
- A. No, except no, the only the only thing I recall is that in the context of his trying to understand what would happen in a penalty phase, we had a conversation about what evidence would be presented and there would be less evidence presented than in a guilt phase, it would not be as graphic, but it was never to my recollection and I'm certain about this it was never intimated to Mr. Zakrzewski that he would that this stuff would be excluded. (R. 441-42)

Mr. Elton Killam, defense co-counsel, stated that he attempted to keep the photographs out of evidence, but only managed to keep out one. (R. 466) He testified:

... the photographs weren't so much the motivation for the plea. The plea was to establish some mitigation by his cooperation and the fact that that's what he wanted to do. I mean he was a military man and believed in accountability ... (R. 467-68)

Killam added that no promises were made to Zakrzewski about the photographs not being shown to the jury. (R. 460) He acknowledged that he did not expect the motion to suppress the photographs to be granted and stated that he has never

successfully prevented the introduction of all photographs of a homicide victim in a trial. (R. 461)

It was pointed out that Zakrzewski had already signed the plea agreement before the plea hearing. (R. 416) Zakrzewski signed the plea agreement on March 15, 1996 and the hearing on the plea agreement and the suppression of the photographs was ten days later, on the 25th. (R. 422) Killam agreed with this timeline. (R. 470)

The second issue raised during the evidentiary hearing (Claim IV in the complete 3.850 motion, Issue I on appeal here) was defense counsels' failure to object to the prosecutor's demonization of Zakrzewski during the state's closing argument. Zakrzewski recalled his counsel only "objecting maybe once or twice during the whole trial . . ." (R. 400) As to Elmore's argument that Zakrzewski's reading of Nietzsche was proof of his anti-Christian beliefs, the defendant vehemently believed this should have been objected to. (R. 401) He felt his attorneys should have objected to Elmore's other remarks about Disney World and his references to the children as "babies." (R. 404) He did not advise his attorneys of this during the closing arguments because he did not know better at the time and believed that they would do the right thing. (R. 407)

Asked why he did not object to the state's closing argument referencing Zakrzewski's writings about Nietzsche as being anti-Christian, Koran did not offer

a particular reason. (R. 428)

As to not objecting to the state's use of the term "babies" in referring to the child victims in its closing argument, Koran testified that he felt the jury would perceive an objection as obstreperous or argumentative. (R. 446) He agreed with Elmore that the term ("babies") is part of the vernacular for that geographical region. (R. 446)

As to the prosecutor's use of the term "mass murderer," Koran did not think that the term was applicable in this situation, but felt it was not worth making an objection to it. (R. 447) Koran felt the same way about objecting to the prosecutor's reference to Disney World. That statement was:

You know it's ironic. He left here and he went to Orlando and all I can ever think of when I think of Orlando is Disney World. Those babies should have gone to Disney World, not him. Maybe they would have like to see paradise on earth in Hawaii. Maybe they would have liked to have seen it. (R. 450)

Koran explained:

. . . my belief is I didn't object to it because I just felt like it didn't really score with the jury, that it was - to me was a little bit over the top, I didn't really think you were helping yourself with the jury and I didn't think it was worth objecting to. (R. 451)

Another of the statements at issue was:

What happened then you and I don't really know because he's not telling the truth about it. We know that from the physical evidence – we know he executed her on the edge of the tub, not as she was standing in the hallway just going into the bathroom, not as she stood in the bathroom but over the edge of the tub. (R. 451)

Koran reiterated the same reason as described above for not objecting. (R. 452)

As to the comments about Zakrzewski's anti-Christian, Nietzschean writings, Mr. Koran did not object because he felt they were "relevant evidence." (R. 456)

Killiam acknowledged that they had received copies of the Nietzschean materials through discovery, and admitted that it would be a very unpopular opinion in this region of Florida. (R. 469-70) He was asked why he would then go forward with the religious mitigation argument when it would trigger the state to argue an anti-Christian factor. (R. 469-70) He responded:

Well, we had five very good witnesses from Hawaii and we thought that those witnesses would overcome anything that Mr. Elmore would come at us with as far as religion and I felt comfortable being a north Floridian and having been brought up in Fundamentalist Christian philosophy that I could take him on on that issue with the jury. (R. 470)

Regarding the search and seizure issue, Zakrzewski testified that he and his wife bought the property and had been living there for a couple of months before the homicide. (R. 403) He did not authorize a search and seizure of evidence from his residence, but did not plan to return to it. (R. 403-04) He did not authorize his attorneys to not move to suppress the evidence taken from the residence. (R. 404)

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