IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

EDWARD J. ZAKRZEWSKI,	
Appellant,	
vs.	Case No. SC 02-1734
STATE OF FLORIDA,	
Appellee.	
	/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR OKALOOSA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

CASSANDRA K. DOLGIN

Assistant Attorney General Certified Out-Of-State Bar Member

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL The Capitol Tallahassee, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 Ext 4583 FAX (850) 487-0997

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

⁸The foreclosure documents are bound separately from Volume II of the record, and are located within the Transcript Of Record, Exhibit Index.

the house, but so stipulated by appellant (PCR III-479).

As the foregoing demonstrates, counsel reasonably believed that any motion to suppress would have been futile (PCR III-443-444). The State would thus suggest that Zakrzewski's "claim of ineffective assistance of counsel is an expression of frustration concerning the result of his trial. Such frustration is not a viable basis for granting postconviction relief." Jones, 28 Fla. L. Weekly at S142. Accordingly, issue II should be denied.

THE POSTCONVICTION MOTION COURT PROPERLY HELD THAT TRIAL COUNSEL DID NOT MISADVISE OR OTHERWISE MAKE ANY PROMISES TO APPELLANT TO INVOLUNTARILY INDUCE HIS GUILTY PLEAS.

Zakrzewski contends on appeal that his guilty pleas were involuntary on the

basis that trial counsel

- 1. Failed to test (move to suppress) the admissibility of the incriminating evidence seized from his residence as a result of the illegal search thereof;
- 2. Failed to advise Zakrzewski of his right to do so prior to tendering his plea of guilty to capital murder, as referenced above, and
- 3. Misadvised the defendant by telling him incorrectly that he had no choice but to plead guilty since the state could introduce the evidence seized as a result of the illegal search of his residence and, thereby, easily prove his guilt. Had Zakrzewski been properly informed that he could contest the legality of virtually all of the evidence the state amassed against him and that there was a reasonable likelihood that this effort would be successful, the defendant most certainly would have insisted upon his right to a jury trial and would not have pled guilty. Furthermore, according to the defendant, his counsel advised and promised him, if he would plead guilty as charged, the state would not introduce into evidence during the penalty phase of his trial photographs of the battered bodies of his dead wife and children. (R. 395)

App.Br. at 49.

A. Standard of Review

In reviewing a trial court's application of the above law to a rule 3.850 motion following an evidentiary hearing, this Court applies the following standard of review: As long as the trial court's findings are supported by competent, substantial evidence, "this Court will not substitute its judgment for that of the trial court on questions of fact, likewise of the credibility of the witnesses as well as the weight to be given to the evidence by the trial court."

Swafford v. State, 828 So.2d 966, 978 (Fla. 2002); see also Sweet v. State, 810 So.2d 854, 871 n.7 (Fla. 2002) ("[T]he trial court must evaluate the credibility of any witnesses, and we are obligated to give deference to the trial court's factual findings."); Porter, 788 So.2d at 923 ("We recognize and honor the trial court's superior vantage point in assessing the credibility of witnesses and in making findings of fact.").

B. Voluntariness of Zakrzewski's guilty pleas

Regarding Zakrzewski's claims that his pleas were involuntary in relation to counsels' advice and/or actions in respect to the seizure of evidence, the motion court denied relief as follows:

The assertion that his plea was not voluntarily entered because his counsel failed to move to suppress incriminating evidence seized from the Defendant's home is without merit. As discussed above, the search was justified under the exigent circumstances exception and the Defendant has failed to establish *Strickland* prejudice as to this issue.

(PCR III-579).

Contrary to his Zakrzewski's contention in his postconviction motion, see PCR

II-219, appellant did *not* testify at the evidentiary hearing that counsel told him "he had no choice but to plead guilty since the state could introduce the evidence seized as a result of the illegal search of his residence and, thereby, easily prove his guilt." And as discussed under Issue II., <u>supra</u>, at 49-61, because the seizure of evidence did not violate the Fourth Amendment, counsel did not render ineffective assistance in not moving to suppress the evidence. Accordingly, Zakrzewski's contention that counsels' advice in respect to suppression or failure to file a motion to suppress rendered the plea involuntary is without merit.

In regard to Zakrzewski's argument that he would not have pled guilty but for counsels' promise that if he pled guilty that the State would not introduce the crime scene photographs during the penalty phase, the motion court denied relief as follows:

As to the alleged misadvice of counsel that the crime scene photographs would be suppressed, which the Defendant contends motivated him to enter the pleas of guilty, the Court finds that the testimony of Mr. Koran and Mr. Killiam regarding their discussions with the Defendant regarding the introduction of the crime scene photographs of victims is credible. Both Mr. Koran and Mr. Killiam emphatically deny that they assured the Defendant that the photographs would [be] suppressed. The Defendant was told that he was "entitled to a trial on the case and if he wanted to contest his guilt, he could;" however, he chose to plead guilty and counsel believed that "he understood this was

his best option."6 Counsel testified that they had discussions with the

⁵Evidentiary hearing, P. 54.

Defendant regarding the presentation of evidence during the penalty phase and a motion was filed to try to limit the crime scene photographs that were shown to the jury; however, at no time was the defendant ever told that the evidence would be excluded.

Moreover, prior to the Defendant pleading guilty in open court, the Court made the decision to determine the admissibility of the crime-scene photographs when tendered for admission into evidence during the penalty phase proceeding.⁷ The Defendant then entered his pleas of guilty and indicated that he had read and understood his written plea agreement, which contained no promise that the photographs would be excluded.⁸ The Court has had the opportunity to observe the Defendant on the witness stand and believes that the Defendant is intelligent and fully understood the plea agreement and the discussions with his counsel concerning the admissibility of the crime-scene photographs.

Accordingly, the Court rejects the Defendant's testimony and assertion in his motion that his pleas of guilty were unconstitutionally involuntary because his counsel assured him that the photographs would be "suppressed."

(PCR III-579-581).

Without citing supporting authority, Zakrzewski urges this Court "to credit Zakrzewski's testimony in this regard" notwithstanding "the fact that both Mr. Koran and Mr. Killiam . . . emphatically denied Zakrzewski's contention that any promise was

⁶Evidentiary hearing P. 60.

⁷Vol. III, P. 433-34; attached hereto as Exhibit "D." *See also*, Vol. II, P. 243-244; attached hereto as Exhibit "E."

⁸See Exhibit "C."

made regarding the subject photographs." App.Br. at 54. While appellant acknowledges that both defense attorneys testified that "all Zakrzewski was told was that they would do their best to limit the introduction of some of the photographs, but that some would most assuredly be allowed in evidence to prove various matters material to the penalty phase of the case," id., he believes the Court should credit Zakrzewski's testimony over trial counsels' on the basis that he "had a solid reputation for honesty and forthrightness while a member of the United States Air Force," "was willing to plead guilty rather than put the state through the time, energy and expense of proving his guilt, which he always acknowledged," and if there was no such promise by counsel, "there was no other motivation for the defendant to plead guilty." Id. at 55.

Appellant's request of the Court ignores the credibility determinations of the motion court, which had a superior vantage point to judge the credibility of the witnesses and make relevant findings of fact. Moreover, Zakrzewski's suggestion that both defense lawyers "simply did not recall making this assurance in the complicated course of preparing his case for trial," App.Br. at 55, is just not reasonable. That characterization of defense counsel's testimony fails to address the absolute certainty with which counsel testified -- i.e., attorney Koran testified that he "categorically" did not promise Zakrzewski that the photographs would be excluded, and that "it was

never intimated to Mr. Zakrzewski that he would -- that this stuff would be excluded" (PCR III-433, 442; see supra, at 16-20). Further, Zakrzewski ignores the testimony of trial counsel concerning appellant's motivation for pleading guilty, App.Br. at 55, including the fact that Zakrzewski did not deny that he committed the murders, the strength of the State's case, and that appellant would appear more sympathetic at the penalty phase if he admitted guilt in light of the foregoing. Thus Zakrzewski's contention that "there was no other motivation" for him to plead guilty except for the purported promise of counsel to exclude from evidence the crime scene photographs is refuted by the evidence adduced at the hearing. See supra, at 20-25.

Finally, cases cited by Zakrzewski are inapposite, App.Br. at 52-54, as each involved either a determination that trial counsel had in fact misadvised the defendant and that erroneous advice was the basis for the entry of the guilty plea, or that a claim of affirmative misadvice was denied without the record addressing the issue. Compare, e.g., Thompson v. State, 351 So.2d 701 (Fla. 1977) (record established that defendant pled guilty upon an honest misunderstanding or belief as to a promise of the trial judge that was communicated through trial counsel), cert. denied, 435 U.S. 998 (1978); Costello v. State, 260 So.2d 198, 201 (Fla. 1972) (record established that counsel misadvised defendant that court would not sentence him to death if he pled guilty); Roberti v. State, 782 So.2d 919, 920 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2001) (cause remanded for

an evidentiary hearing, where "Roberti must demonstrate that counsel affirmatively misadvised him and that he would not have pleaded had he been properly advised."); Tal-Mason v. State, 700 So.2d 453, 456-457 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997) (remand warranted where record failed to demonstrate "the nature and extent of counsel's specific advice to defendant concerning gain time and its applicability to any sentence that might be imposed.").

Because the record here refutes Zakrzewski's claim that counsel misadvised him and that he pled guilty in reliance thereto, Issue III should be denied.

APPELLANT IS NOT ENTITLED TO RELIEF UNDER <u>APPRENDI</u> v. NEW JERSEY, 530 U.S. 466 (2000) OR <u>RING v. ARIZONA</u>, 536 U.S. 584 (2002).

Seeking relief pursuant to Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584, 122 S.Ct. 2428 (2002) and Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466 (2000), Zakrzewski contends for the first time, now on appeal, that

Florida's death penalty statute (a) does not require the jury to find the existence of each aggravating circumstances beyond a reasonable doubt, (b) does not require the jury to find that there are insufficient mitigating circumstances that outweigh the aggravating circumstances beyond a reasonable doubt, (c) provides that the jury's verdict is only advisory and not binding, [1] (d) only requires a bare majority of the jurors to make a death recommendation to the court, and (e) allows the reviewing court to reweigh the aggravating and mitigating factors to determine whether the death sentence may stand after striking one of the aggravating factors on appeal.

App.Br. 56-57 (internal footnote omitted). Before the motion court, Zakrzewski filed a motion seeking judicial notice of his claim pursuant to <u>Apprendi v. New Jersey</u>, 530 U.S. 466 (2000), not previously raised, or, alternatively, to amend the amended postconviction motion to include the <u>Apprendi</u> claim (PCR II-293-299). Therein, appellant specifically limited his claim as follows:

[a]n issue that must be addressed here, as I understand it, is the same as in <u>Apprendi</u>, <u>Jones</u>, and <u>Ring</u>: Are the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution of the United States violated by Florida's death penalty statute that, by its very terms and conditions,

does <u>not</u> cause and allow the jury to make all the findings necessary to expose the defendant to a death sentence?

(PCR II-295) (emphasis in original).

The motion court denied relief, stating "[a]s to the *Apprendi* claim, this claim is procedurally barred from consideration." (PCR III-582). "To uphold the trial court's summary denial of claims raised in a 3.850 motion, the claims must be either facially invalid or conclusively refuted by the record." Foster v. State, 810 So.2d 910, 914 (Fla.) (internal citation omitted), cert. denied, 123 S.Ct. 470 (2002).

Regarding appellant's claims that were ultimately raised before the motion court pertaining to Ring and Apprendi, they are procedurally barred: Zakrzewski did not contemporaneously assert before or at trial a Sixth Amendment jury sentencing claim challenging the procedure by which the aggravating factors were found (compare DA I-50-51 ("Motion To Prohibit Application Of Florida Statute 921.141(5)(1)," on basis of Ex Post Facto Clause); DA I-86 ("Amended "Motion To Prohibit Application Of Florida Statute 921.141(5)(1)" (same)); DA I-146-168 ("Motion To Declare Section 921.141, Florida Statutes Unconstitutional For Lack Of Adequate Appellate Review"); DA I-169-176 ("Motion To Declare Section 921.141, Florida Statutes Unconstitutional Because It Precludes Consideration Of Mitigation By Imposing Improper Burdens Of Proof Or Persuasion"); DA I-195-196 ("Motion To Declare Section 921.141, Florida

Statutes Unconstitutional Because Only A Bare Majority Of Jurors Is Sufficient To Recommend A Death Sentence"); DA IX-1181-1207 (charging conference), or on direct appeal (compare "Initial Brief Of Appellant, No. 88367, at i-iii). Having failed to raise these claims in a timely manner, they are now barred and the Court should deny relief on that basis. See McGregor v. State, 789 So.2d 976, 977 (Fla. 2001) (Apprendi claim procedurally barred for failure to raise in trial court); Barnes v. State, 794 So.2d 590 (Fla. 2001) (Apprendi error not preserved for appellate review).

To the extent that Zakrzewski now contends that Ring invalidates his death sentence on additional bases not raised before the postconviction relief court, he is precluded from raising these bases for the first time on appeal. Gudinas, 816 So.2d at 1111 n.4; Doyle, 526 So.2d at 911.9 Moreover, these additional bases are unavailing, as the only issue before the United States Supreme Court in Ring was "whether that aggravating factor may be found by the judge, as Arizona law specifies, or whether the Sixth Amendment's jury trial guarantee, made applicable to the States by the Fourteenth Amendment, requires that the aggravating factor determination be

⁹Zakrzewski does not specifically address the procedural default issue other than to rely upon the sole concurring opinion of Justice Shaw in <u>Bottoson</u>, 27 Fla. L. Weekly at S896-S898. See App.Br. at 58-59.

entrusted to the jury. []" Ring, 122 S.Ct. at 2437 (internal footnotes omitted). 10

Even if the Court were to determine that Zakrzewski has not defaulted upon the claims raised under Issue IV, neither <u>Ring</u> nor <u>Apprendi</u> are subject to retroactive application.

On June 24, 2002, the United States Supreme Court issued its decision in Ring, holding that the Sixth Amendment requires that a jury make the finding of an aggravating circumstance necessary for imposition of the death penalty. Id., 122 S.Ct. at 2443. The Supreme Court decided Ring based upon Apprendi, previously decided on June 26, 2000, which held that a criminal defendant is entitled to a jury

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